

M  
E  
D  
I  
N  
A



MEDINA ATHLETIC BOOSTERS CLUB  
CONSTITUTION & BY-LAWS



# CONSTITUTION & BYLAWS

## MEDINA ATHLETIC BOOSTERS CLUB

### ARTICLE 1 – ORGANIZATION

The organization shall be a non-profit corporation.

The name of the organization shall be “The Medina Athletic Boosters Club”. Hereinafter referred to as the Boosters Club or the association.

Affective date: April 2, 1981 Re-adopted: **November 2005**

### ARTICLE II – MISSION

It shall be the mission of the Boosters Club to promote and broaden the involvement of students, their families, and the school in sanctioned (by the Medina City Schools Board of Education) inter-scholastic athletic programs.

To that end, the Boosters Club shall:

1. Work closely with and diligently support the coaches, the athletic Director, and the school administration in their efforts to develop and maintain a quality interscholastic athletic program.
2. Promote and maintain a high standard of integrity and good sportsmanship in all inter-scholastic athletic programs.
3. Promote and foster good will throughout the community toward the athletic programs in the Medina City School District.
4. Encourage the students in the Medina City District to become involved in one or more of the athletic programs.
5. Promote and encourage attendance at all inter-scholastic sports activities by the parents and friends of the athletes, the student body, and by the community as a whole.
6. Conduct fund-raising programs to help subsidize the expenses of the athletic department s needed to maintain a well-rounded athletic program with maximum participation.
7. Help control expenses of the Athletic Department by providing volunteer services at inter-scholastic events as requested by the Athletic Director or Coaches.

## ARTICLE III – BUDGET

In order that the Boosters Club can meet its financial objectives from year to year, an annual budget shall be established. Said budget shall be formulated in the following manner.

### SECTION 1:

By the May meeting of each calendar year, a Budget Committee shall be formed. This committee shall be comprised of the Booster Club's Executive Board and the school Athletic Director. The Executive Board may elect to appoint additional members to this committee, but in no case shall the total number of members exceed seven (7).

### SECTION 2:

After the committee has been formed, there shall be such number of meetings is necessary to formulate the new budget. It shall be the responsibility of this committee to have this budget finalized so that it can be submitted to the Membership for approval at the **June** meeting of each school year unless so changed by the Executive Board.

### SECTION 3:

Following is the general format to use in formulating the annual budget:

- a) Treasurer of the Boosters Club should prepare a written accounting of actual income and expenditures of the Club for the previous budget year. This will provide a basis to begin formulating the new budget.
- b) The Athletic Director should provide the Committee with his/her projected budget along with the amount of funds he/she is seeking from the Boosters Club to meet that budget.
- c) The Committee shall review all existing and proposed fund raising projects and assess each of them for their potential income to the Club.

### SECTION 4:

Medina Athletic Booster Club fiscal year shall run from July 1 to June 30.

## ARTICLE IV – MEMBERSHIP

### SECTION 1:

Membership in the Medina Athletic Boosters Club is open to any person (**18 years of age or older**) who agrees with and subscribes to the mission of the organization.

### SECTION 2: Types of Memberships

#### A. **MEMBERSHIP**

An annual membership fee is hereby established for each regular voting member in the amount of \$25.00. This fee shall be payable at the September meeting. It shall be the duty of the Secretary to maintain membership rosters and see that the annual fee for membership is collected. Membership fees may be increased or decreased by the Executive Board and a majority vote of the General Membership. Members will be eligible to vote at the first General Meeting following the payment of their membership dues.

#### B. **LIFETIME MEMBERSHIP**

Lifetime Membership shall be made available for a fee of \$500.00. It shall be payable at the time one wishes to become a lifetime member.

#### C. **PATRON MEMBERSHIP**

A Patron Membership will be established for a person who subscribes to the patron drive held each year. In recognition of their generous support to the Medina Sports Program publication, patrons will be given the opportunity to become voting members of the Boosters Club upon attendance at a meeting at which time they can sign the membership list held by the secretary.

#### D. **PAST PRESIDENTS**

All past presidents shall be charter lifetime members.

E. **ADMINISTRATIVE**

The Athletic Director/Assistant Athletic Director of the Medina City School District shall automatically be considered an ex-officio member of the organization. The High School Principal or his designate shall serve as a member of the Advisory Board of the Organization.

F. **COACHES**

All Medina City School Head Varsity Coaches shall be voting members of the Athletic Booster Club.

**ARTICLE V – OFFICER ELECTIONS**

**SECTION I:**

Officers shall consist of a President, Vice-President, Treasurer, and Recording Secretary. There shall be such additional officers, committee chairpersons, and other additional officers, as the President shall appoint from time to time.

**SECTION 2:**

Election of officers shall take place at the meeting of the Association to be held in May of each year or as near thereto as is reasonable (the Election Meeting). The slate of officers should be presented to the membership at the April meeting or a meeting preceding the election meeting (the Nomination Meeting). The proposed slate shall be nominated by a nominating committee, hereafter defined, and the committee may nominate more than one proposed officer for each position. The proposed nominations may be accepted by the nominating committee in their sole consideration from the floor during the Nomination Meeting or the nominating committee may generate nominations itself. The full slate or slates as nominated by the nominating committee will be presented and voted upon at the Election Meeting.

### SECTION 3:

The nominating committee shall consist of five (5) members: two shall be elected by the Executive Board; two shall be elected from the floor at a general meeting of the Association to be held preceding the Nomination Meeting; and one shall be the principal/designee of the School.

### SECTION 4:

Officers shall serve for one (1) year terms from June to May.

### SECTION 5:

Only members in good standing shall hold office or vote in elections, unless this provision is waived by the Executive Board.

### SECTION 6:

Voting shall be by secret ballot at the Election Meeting. There shall be an election committee of three, appointed by the President of the Association on the day of the election of officers.

The duty of the election committee shall be to pass out the ballots, collect the ballots, and count them. The chairman of that committee reports the final count to the Association. In the event there is more than one person nominated for any one office, then whoever wins the majority of the votes cast shall be deemed winner of the election.

In the event there is but one nominee for any particular office, and that nominee does not receive the majority of votes cast, then the Executive Board shall appoint an eligible member to serve in that office, and hold that office until the next regular election, or in the alternative, the Executive Board may determine to hold another election for that particular office. The President, with the consent of the nominating committee may forego the secret balloting and call for election by voice vote if he/she deems that the electors are clearly in favor of such procedure.

#### SECTION 7:

Installation of officers shall be a the final meeting of the school year, at which time the new officers shall take over their duties in all matters affecting the next subsequent school year.

#### SECTION 8:

The annual meeting of the Association shall be at the last meeting of the school year, which, ordinarily, will be held in **June**. At the annual meeting, all annual reports shall be received and the retiring officers, retiring board, and the newly elected officers and new board, if organized, shall hold a joint session. At the joint session, the retiring officers and board shall transfer all books, papers in their possession and belonging to the Association to the new administration, and otherwise advise the new administration as to the status of affairs of the Association.

#### SECTION 9:

Active past presidents who are still members of the Association shall remain on the Advisory Board

### ARTICLE VI – DUTIES OF OFFICERS

#### SECTION 1:

It shall be the duty of the President to preside at all regular and special meetings and all Board meetings. The President shall perform all of the duties of the officer; shall appoint all committees and committee chairperson and shall be ex-officio member of all committees. The President shall also sign all contracts, subject however, to the approval or ratification of the Advisory Board. He/she shall be able to disburse emergency funds up to \$100.00 with the approval of one other Executive Board Member. The President shall have regular meetings with the school principal and/or athletic directors as needed.

## SECTION 2:

The Vice-President shall act as President in the event of his/her absence, death, or incapacity and shall assume his/her duties for the balance of his/her term unless replaced by the Board. The Vice-President's line of succession shall be as designated at the time of their elections.

The Vice-President shall assume the responsibility of the sports program by either forming a committee, appointing a chairperson or becoming the chairperson for the program; only in the event there is no current chairperson, for as long as this remains a project of the Association.

## SECTION 3:

It shall be the duty of the Recording Secretary to keep a record of all regular meetings and all Board meetings. It shall also be the duty of the Secretary to maintain a procedure book which is a record of the activities of the Association compiled into a permanent form.

It shall be the duty of the Secretary to conduct the correspondence of the Association, keep a list of the membership's current addresses, send out all notices when not hereinafter provided for and send special letters, unless otherwise provided for in the standing rules. A sustaining membership program shall be maintained and regular reports will be given to the treasurer.

## SECTION 4:

It shall be the duty of the Treasurer to receive all monies due to the Association and deposit it in a place approved by the Association. The Treasurer or designee shall disburse the funds of the Association only for purposes approved by the Association, from time to time. The Treasurer shall present a statement of account at all regular meetings and at other times when requested to do so by the President and shall make a full report at the annual meeting. The accounts of the Treasurer may be audited by a committee approved by the President.

## ARTICLE VII – EXECUTIVE BOARD

### SECTION: 1

The Executive Board shall consist of the elected officers.

SECTION 2:

The duties of the Executive Board shall be to transact emergency business in the interval between Advisory Board meetings.

SECTION 3:

The majority of the Executive Board shall constitute a quorum.

SECTION 4:

Meetings of the Executive Board shall be held as needed.

ARTICLE VIII – ADVISORY BOARD

SECTION 1:

The Advisory Board shall consist of the officers of the Association, active past presidents, the athletic director, chairmen of current standing committees, and the principal/designee of the school. The members of the Advisory Board shall serve until the next election.

SECTION 2:

The duties of the Advisory Board shall be:

- a. To transact necessary business in the intervals between Association meetings as well as other business that may be referred to it by the Association or the school administration.
- b. To create standing committees.
- c. To approve the plans of work of the standing committees.
- d. To present a report at the regular meetings of the Association.
- e. To prepare and submit to the Association for approval a budget for the fiscal year.
- f. To approve any bills within the limits of the budget.

SECTION 3:

All requests for unbudgeted expenditures must be received by the Advisory Board for consideration ten days in advance of the regular monthly meetings.

SECTION 4:

Regular meeting of the Advisory Board shall be held during the school year at a time fixed by the Board at its first meeting of the year. A majority of the Advisory Board members shall constitute a quorum. Special meetings of the Advisory Board may be called by the President or by a majority of the members of the Advisory Board.

ARTICLE IX – MEETINGS

SECTION 1:

Regular meetings of the Association shall be held the first Monday of each month **unless it is a holiday or there is a major conflict with a school event; in which case, it will be held on the second Monday**, unless otherwise provided by the Association or by the Executive Board. Seven (7) days notice is to be given.

SECTION 2:

Special meetings may be called by the Executive Board, the (10) days notice having been given.

SECTION 3:

The annual meeting shall be in **June**.

SECTION 4:

Twelve (12) members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business in any meeting of this association.

SECTION 5:

Business of the Association will be transacted by a majority of those present.

#### SECTION 6:

All agenda items for the regular monthly meetings will be presented by the Advisory Board.

All money items or requests must be presented to the Advisory Board at least (10) days prior to the regular monthly meeting of the Booster Club.

All money items not on the meeting agenda will not be voted upon. However, these items will be taken under consideration by the Advisory Board and brought back to our next regular meeting.

(See Article VII, Section 3)

### ARTICLE X – STANDING COMMITTEES

#### SECTION 1:

The executive Board may create such standing committees, as it may deem necessary to promote the objectives and carry on the work of the Association. The term of each chairman shall be one year and until the election and qualification of his successor.

#### SECTION 2:

The Chairman of each Standing Committee shall present a plan of work to the Executive Board for approval. No committee work shall be undertaken without the consent of the Executive Board.

#### SECTION 3:

The President or other designee from the Executive Board shall be a member ex-officio of all Booster Standing Committees except the Nominating Committee.

#### SECTION 4:

The power to form special committees and appoint their members rests with the Association and the Executive Board.

## ARTICLE XI – PROPERTY RIGHTS

Membership in this Association shall not title or vest any of the members with any property rights or rights having monetary value of any kind whatsoever, including, but not limited to, property rights or monetary rights in the school or in the Association.

## ARTICLE XII – AMENDMENT

These by-laws shall be approved by a meeting of the regularly called voting membership, by a majority vote of the members eligible to vote and actually casting their vote at said meeting. The by-laws may be amended by a two-thirds vote of the members present at any regularly called meeting. Such amendments may only be recommended by the Executive Board, and shall be represented in writing and read at the regular meeting one month prior to the time of voting.

## ARTICLE XIII – RELATIONSHIP WITH SCHOOL PRINCIPAL AND ATHLETIC DEPARTMENT

The Booster Club shall operate in full support of the school principal, athletic director, and coaches. At no time should the Boosters Club make recommendations or become directly involved in the day-to-day operation of the school athletic program. The Boosters Club serves only to support the school athletic program and has no way or direction of policy established by the school principal or athletic director.

Article XIV – THE MEDINA ATHLETIC BOOSTER KEN DUKES  
MEMORIAL SCHOLARSIP FUND

PREAMBLE:

Whereas, the Medina Athletic Booster Club has the power to create a scholarship fund;

Whereas, a sum of \$10,000. has been raised for this specific purpose; therefore, the Medina Athletic Booster Club creates the KEN DUKES MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIP FUND the purpose of such fund will be to award scholarship(s) to a Medina High School student(s) who have participated in athletics and specifically authorized acceptance of other funds or donated for this purpose.

SECTION 1:

- a. Eligibility. Any student regardless of sex, race, color, creed or national origin, in his/her senior year who will be graduating from Medina High School and who has participated in one or more of the Medina High School athletic programs, shall be eligible to receive scholarship funds.
- b. Selection Committee. There is hereby created a Selection Committee of the Scholarship Fund, which shall be comprised of not more than six (6) members, all of whom shall be selected by the Athletic Director, one of which shall be from the Medina Athletic Boosters Executive Board. The Selection Committee shall meet at least annually, and by a majority vote of its membership committee, select an eligible student(s); whom they have determined would benefit by education beyond the high school level; that has participated in one or more of the Medina High School athletic programs, and who has met any other qualifications as deemed necessary by the Selection Committee. The Committee will also select an investment advisor with the right to change him/her as necessary.

- c. Amount Awarded. The total amount of financial assistance to be awarded by the Scholarship Fund to such selected student(s) shall be determined by the Selection Committee the last week of March and approved by the Medina Athletic Booster Club. This amount shall not exceed the balance of income limited to such part of all of the tuition and other fees regularly charged, but not to exceed them, at the educational institution attended by the scholarship recipient(s).

## SECTION 2:

- a. Selection Committee By-Laws. The Selection Committee may from time to time, change or adopt new standards of eligibility for scholarships and the selection of scholarship recipients consistent with the purpose here in expressed. Scholarship recipients shall be enrolled in and attend, as a fulltime student, an education at a level above the twelfth grade, maintains a regular faculty and curriculum, normally has a regular organized body of pupils or students in attendance at the place where its educational activities are regularly carried on, and is accredited by a nationally recognized agency or association.
- b. Change of Circumstances. If, after its creation, there should be such change of circumstances that it becomes impossible to hold and administer the Scholarship Fund herein created, as determined by The Medina Athletic Booster Club and the Selection Committee, or by one of them because of non-existence of the other, then they or the remaining one shall distribute the scholarship fund as then constituted to the Medina Athletic Booster Club, or if such organization should not then be in existence, for educational purposes to such other nonprofit charitable organizational as they shall jointly determine, or the remaining one may determine, giving preference to an organization or organizations devoted to educational and athletic purposes.
- c. Maintenance of Fund. The Scholarship Fund shall be maintained in an account segregated from all other Boosters Club accounts and identified as to Principal Balance and Income Balance. The proceeds of the Fund shall be held secure by an Investment Advisor who shall be appointed annually by the Scholarship Fund Selection Committee.

- d. Investment Advisor. It shall be the duty of the Investment Advisor to exercise reasonable business knowledge and skill in the management of the Scholarship Fund and the investment of its proceeds. The Investment Advisor shall keep accurate records showing all receipts, disbursements and other transactions involving the Scholarship Fund together with the Fund property and all evidence thereof.

These records shall be available for inspection to any serving members of the Selection Committee and/or Medina Athletic Boosters Club, or to any such person they may designate. The Investment Advisor shall pay the scholarship funds from income to the educational institutions for the benefit of the scholarship recipient(s) at such time and in the amounts determined by the Selection Committee within the dollar limitations Section I, c., as directed and appropriated by such Committee, and shall have no duty to see to the use of the funds so paid and the receipt of the educational institution of such funds for the tuition and/or fees of the selected scholarship recipient(s) shall be conclusively deemed to be in compliance with the provisions hereof.

(Article XIV – approved and accepted on July 12, 1984)